

STRATEGIC REVIEW AND LEARNING EVENT REPORT

Bringing Unity, Integrity, and Legitimacy to Democracy (BUILD) in Somalia

August 2018

This publication was prepared independently by Maribel Díaz and Joakim Gundel of Social Impact, Inc. It was produced at the request of the United States Agency for International Development.

i

CONTENTS

STRATEGIC REVIEW OBJECTIVES AND QUESTIONS	- 1
METHODOLOGY	- 1
I. HAS THE ACTIVITY'S TOC AND KEY ASSUMPTIONS HELD OVER THE LIFE OF	THE
ACTIVITY SO FAR?	3
2. HOW HAS BUILD ADAPTED?	4
3. WHAT FUTURE ADAPTATIONS ARE REQUIRED IN RESPONSE TO CHANGES II	N THE
CONTEXT? ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEF	INED.
4. WHAT CLA SYSTEMS ARE REQUIRED TO ENSURE FUTURE ADAPTATIONS?	6
ANNEXES	9
ANNEX I: STATEMENT OF WORK	9
ANNEX II: STRATEGIC REVIEW AND LEARNING EVENT AGENDA	15
ANNEX III: LIST OF KEY INFORMANT INTERVIEWS	22
ANNEX IV: STRATEGIC REVIEW AND LEARNING EVENT SUMMARY NOTES	23

TABLES

Table I: Original Theory of Change	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	3
Table 2: Revised Theory of Change		
Table 3: ToC developed by BUILD		
Table 4: Action Planning	Error!	Bookmark not defined

FIGURES

Figure 1: Scenario Trajectory	Error!	Bookmark not	defined.
Figure 2: Roadmap of the Learning Event	•••••		15
Figure 3: Scenario Trajectory	Error!	Bookmark not	defined.
Figure 4: Developing a Learning Agenda	Error!	Bookmark not	defined.

i

ACRONYMS

ADS Automated Directives System

AMELP Activity Monitoring, Evaluation and Learning Plan

AMISOM African Union Mission in Somalia
AOR Agreement Officer Representative
ASWL Association of Somali Women Lawyers
BBC British Broadcasting Corporation

BUILD Bringing Unity, Integrity, and Legitimacy to Democracy

CLA Collaborating, Learning and Adapting

COP Chief of Party

CPA Centre for Policy Analysis

CS Civil Society

CSO Civil Society Organization
DCOP Deputy Chief of Party

DFID Department for International Development (UK)
DRG Democracy, Human Rights and Governance

DRG-LER Democracy, Human Rights and Governance - Learning, Evaluation and

Research

EISA Electoral Institute for Sustainable Democracy in Africa

EMB Election Management Bodies
FGS Federal Government of Somalia

FMS Federal Member States

IESG Integrated Electoral Support Group

IP Implementing Partner

IRI International Republican Institute
MEL Monitoring, Evaluation and Learning

MolFAR Ministry of Interior, Federal Affairs, and Reconciliation

MP Member of Parliament

NEC National Electoral Commission (Somaliland)
NIEC National Independent Electoral Commission

OPOV One Person One Vote
PEA Political Economy Analysis

RACI Responsible, Accountable, Consulted, Informed

SI Social Impact
SL Somaliland

SME Subject Matter Expert

SPSS Somalia Program Support Services

SR Strategic Review
ToC Theory of Change
UN United Nations

UNDP United Nations Development Program

USAID United States Agency for International Development

USG United States Government VR Voter Registration

INTRODUCTION

In response to the Democracy, Human Rights and Governance – Learning Evaluation and Research (DRG-LER) tasking S023, Social Impact (SI) conducted a Midterm Strategic Review of the Bringing Unity, Integrity, and Legitimacy to Democracy (BUILD) activity in Somalia. BUILD is initiative implemented by Creative Associates, begun in 2016 with three focal areas: (I) encouraging citizen participation in political and electoral processes through civil society and media organization capacity building; (2) developing the capacity of election management bodies; and (3) supporting Somali political parties to be more organized, inclusive and issue-based.

The BUILD activity is being implemented in a very complex and fluid country context with significant security concerns. The United States Agency for International Development (USAID) contracted SI to implement a strategic review in order to guide the remaining three years of the BUILD initiative to ensure that the program design and implementation adapt based on ongoing learning. This strategic review and learning report provides an analysis of data gathered through a literature review, Key Informant Interviews and the strategic review and learning event and offers recommendations to inform programmatic decision making.

STRATEGIC REVIEW OBJECTIVES AND QUESTIONS

The strategic review was structured to a) inform the next three years of program design and implementation and b) understand how the BUILD activity can incorporate learning and respond to a highly political and operational context, by answering the following strategic review questions:

- Have the activity's Theory of Change (ToC) and key assumptions held over the life of the activity so far?
- To what extent has the activity adapted in response to learning and changes in context? What has enabled or hindered that?
- How have the Activity's management and operational structures performed and adapted within Somalia's challenging programming environment?
- Looking forward, how best can the Activity respond to changes in the context (for example, delays to the electoral framework or the lack of decision on key constitutional issues that will impact on elections) and to key assumptions to be more adaptive?
- What kind of learning and analytical activities and/or capacities are most important for ensuring the activity can contribute to desired political and technical changes?
- What managerial or organizational changes may be necessary to achieve this?

METHODOLOGY

SI implemented a three-part methodology composed of an initial desk review, key informant interviews, and a Strategic Review and Learning Event to address the strategic review questions:

- **Desk Review:** SI reviewed BUILD's quarterly and annual reports, its Activity Monitoring, Evaluation and Learning Plan, and additional contextual documents.
- **Key informant interviews (KIIs)**: The strategic review team conducted a total of 16 in -person and virtual interviews with BUILD stakeholders, including USAID technical staff, BUILD field and

headquarters staff, the National Independent Electoral Commission (NIEC), representatives of civil society organizations, Members of Parliament (MPs), the United Nations (UN) Integrated Electoral Support Group (IESG) and other donors. See Annex III for a list of KII's.

• Strategic Review and Learning Event: The learning event was informed by data collected from key informant interviews, consultations with USAID/Somalia leadership and guidance from Automated Directives System 201. Outcomes include an action plan by objective, learning questions to integrate into BUILD's Activity Monitoring, Evaluation, and Learning (MEL) Plan and a revised draft of the its ToC. These outputs will guide BUILD to adaptively manage its implementation moving forward.

STRATEGIC REVIEW FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

I. HAS THE ACTIVITY'S TOC AND KEY ASSUMPTIONS HELD OVER THE LIFE OF THE ACTIVITY SO FAR?

The original ToC is presented in Table I. The ToC included a number of assumptions about legislative progress, political party development, civil society development, partners in Electoral Management Bodies (EMB) and security conditions that have not held up well over time. Challenges in these areas pose a risk to the BUILD initiative's ability to achieve its stated objective of building trust and participation in political and electoral processes and require an adaptive approach. We discuss how each of these assumptions did not match realities on the ground in the paragraphs that follow.

Table I: Original Theory of Change

IF	THEN	THEREFORE
Citizens are more aware, engaged, and confident in political/electoral processes;	Objective I: Citizens' participation in local, state, and national political/electoral processes will increase.	Trust and participation in political and electoral
Civil Society Organizations (CSOs) facilitate	•	processes by
engagement between citizens and government	Objective 2: Election	Somalis will
on constitutional and legislative processes pertaining to elections;	Management Bodies will have better systems to administer and manage elections effectively.	increase.
Electoral Management Bodies are supported to	-	
develop better operational systems;	Objective 3: Political parties will be able to compete in elections in a way that	
Political party representatives understand the electoral legal framework AND have increased skills in poll watching, voter outreach, campaigning and developing issue-based platforms	contributes to a free and fair electoral process and appeals to a range of citizens, including women and youth.	

Lack of a legal framework: A legal framework outlining the electoral rules is required for parties to develop and EMB to prepare for and conduct elections in Somalia. To date, the legal framework for Somalia's elections are yet to be developed (This was not an issue for Somaliland). Without this precondition, BUILD has not been able to make progress on many planned activities, including supporting the NIEC in developing a voter registration system, preparing for planned elections in 2020, supporting political parties, and building societal trust and participation.

Weak political parties: Under Objective 3, BUILD is to support political parties to allow them to become more competitive, inclusive and representative of citizens' interests. However, Somalia's political

parties are only now able to register temporarily, and for the most part are shells without organizational structures, influence on their members, a coherent ideology, or grassroots support. Even in the more politically developed Somaliland, MPs have no ongoing or sustained relationship with their parties between elections and there are no party caucuses. While BUILD has provided support to some political parties, the lack of party development has limited progress in this area.

Weak civil society: Similarly, civil society remains weak, and many organizations have emerged more as contractors than as legitimate civil society organizations. Efforts to diversify outreach to additional actors of civil society, such as traditional leaders, community-based organizations and village committees have been limited. As a result, BUILD has made limited progress toward its Objective I, building CSO capacity to inform citizens and monitor political processes.

Non-cooperative partners in Somalia's EMB: BUILD was successful in working with Somaliland's National Electoral Commission (NEC) despite initial difficulties; BUILD is still developing its relationship with Somalia's National Independent Electoral Commission (NIEC). The Commission is dominated by one key individual chair lady who in many stakeholders' views has emerged as an obstacle to progress. The NIEC has limited experience and capacity and yet has not always been receptive to BUILD support. The primary source of conflict currently is the lack of BUILD support for a NIEC proposed robust and expensive bio-metric voter registration system, which is viewed by BUILD and others as premature at this time. This poor individual relationship has undermined efforts under Objective 2, to build the capacity of NIEC to design, administer and manage transparent, credible and accepted elections and political processes, with effective public outreach and is a key factor inhibiting BUILD's other activities from moving forward.

Poor security environment: The security environment in Somalia has not improved as was expected, and according to several interviewees it has worsened. As a result, Creative Associates has not been able to visit its local partners or project locations in Mogadishu due to security restrictions. Attacks on targeted institutions threaten to disrupt efforts to register voters and to hold future elections. The poor security situation has restrained BUILD's efforts to achieve all three of its objectives.

2. HOW HAS BUILD ADAPTED?

The BUILD program began with an early adaptation. While it had always been planned that BUILD would operate in Somaliland, the withdrawal of support for the NEC in Somaliland by another donor resulted in a USAID request to quickly ramp up activities in Somaliland. As a result, early BUILD activities focused on Somaliland. This was a reasonable adaptation and it allowed for some early progress. As mentioned above, BUILD developed a productive relationship with Somaliland's NEC and was able to add value through support for voter card distribution, elections management, warehouse management, operational planning and procurement. There was good cooperation with managers and heads of department, and BUILD provided financial support for election equipment voter card printing, and paper ballot printing.

Towards the end of 2017, BUILD moved their office and main operations to Mogadishu and increased its focus on Somalia.¹ This marked a major shift in the operational context of the program, which require a comprehensive ability to adapt to a vastly different, new context. Perhaps unexpectedly, the BUILD program partners realized that their experiences and lessons learned from Somaliland were not immediately transferrable to Somalia.² Several of the interviewed Implementing Partners (IPs) described BUILD as a de-facto "two country program." A second, and apparently inadvertent adaptation was a shift in focus from achieving the stated goal of "increased trust and participation" to achieving the goal of OPOV. Given the limited progress towards OPOV and potential lack of consensus around universal suffrage, it appears that this was a problematic adaptation that is being reconsidered.

While BUILD has attempted to mitigate the challenges and threats to the ToC discussed above, it has not been able to develop effective solutions to the lack of progress in developing a legal framework, inadequate political party and civil society consolidation and capacity, and a non-cooperative NIEC. The worsening security situation is a factor largely out of the hands of BUILD, limiting their options for adaption, and prompts the need for finding creative work around solutions. BUILD has also been confronted with several management related challenges to effectively adapt. These include:

Staff Turnover: The program was affected by key staff turnover in the Electoral Institute for Sustainable Democracy in Africa (EISA) and the International Republican Institute (IRI) and delays in finding replacements. This stalled the civil society sub-grant component and the political parties work because a replacement for a key local staff member had to be found after the program moved offices to Mogadishu. It was also mentioned that changes in key decision makers at Creative Associates from mid-2017 caused some confusion and discontinuity of the program.

Coordination challenges within BUILD: Reporting lines between field (Mogadishu), Nairobi, and DC have been too long and complicated, leading to delays and a lack of consensus. KII's mentioned a need for improved coordination of activities on a daily basis, and between the implementing partners (IPs) involved directly in Objectives I & 2, and Objectives 2 & 3 respectively.

Coordination challenges between BUILD and USAID: The processing of small grants and approval of program changes has been lengthy with complex back and forth communication between Mogadishu (BUILD IPs), Washington, DC (Creative Associates HQs) and Nairobi (USAID). In addition, there appears to have been uncertainty about the extent to which BUILD could move activities forward on their own and what USAID needs to approve under the cooperative agreement. USAID on the other hand felt that the BUILD partners could and should have developed their own solutions to bridge the challenges faced in the Somalia context and presented them to USAID. In addition, there was disagreement over the extent to which USAID should be providing political leverage in building support for BUILD among Somalia political actors.

While program adaptation has proven difficult in Somalia, there have been a number of observations and lessons to be learned that could lay the groundwork for future adaptation. For example, in respect to working with civil society, KII's offered the following considerations:

• Avoid basing activities around CSOs based in the capital city as they may not be respected or trusted in the provinces.

¹ BUILD Annual Report 2017

² KII's

³ Ihid.

- Given the limits to Somalia's formal civil society organizations, other approaches to civic engagement, including participatory action methods and outreach to traditional leaders and community-based organizations, should be explored.
- The CSO grants system needs to include risk mitigation efforts to avoid creating a new form of patronage and attracting rent-seeking sub-grantees.
- Activities need to reflect the realities on the ground. For example, awareness campaigns should
 not be implemented for the sake of meeting output goals, but rather they should only be held
 once it is clear what the election system looks like and what the campaign should focus on.

4. WHAT CLA SYSTEMS ARE REQUIRED TO ENSURE FUTURE ADAPTATIONS?

Amendment of activity MEL Plan with a focus on CLA Plan refinement. While the CLA Plan⁴ represents BUILD's general CLA approach, including potential learning questions and mechanisms for collaboration (Learning Networks), it should be refined throughout the life of the activity. BUILD can now incorporate pause and reflect moments, learning questions and collaborative processes that aid both staff and implementing partners in practical and utilization-focused CLA applications that will lead to deeper coordination and integration, evidence-based knowledge that incorporates input from an increasingly diverse set of stakeholders, and management processes that affords flexibility and agile corrective actions.

Operationalize and socialize "Pause and Reflect" within BUILD organizational processes. As an intentional process, CLA for BUILD will require that Creative Associates consider adjusting organizational and management processes in order to create space for Pause and Reflect so that evidence-based decision making is agile and responsive to the fluid context of Somalia.

Develop and execute a Learning Plan in order to mitigate gaps in knowledge that may impact activity implementation approaches. During this activity, the team identified critical gaps in knowledge and learning questions that can bridge those gaps and facilitate informed decision-making. See Annex IV for Learning questions.

Refine Plan Bs and triggers. The fluid and changing political dynamics shaping Somalia's elections context requires systematic surveillance of key trends to inform adaptive management. To mitigate the risks associated with picking a single trajectory given the uncertainty regarding whether elections will be held in 2020, USAID and the BUILD team developed a range of scenarios that could unfold over the remainder of the activity, and how BUILD's implementation would notionally adjust. Through a participatory exercise during the Strategic Review, the team predicated its implementation around the "as is" activity implementation characterized as "Shaky/Managed Incremental Change"; otherwise understood as Plan A. The team's reflection on current dynamics with NIEC, support for OPOV and the utilization of media to effectively promote the right of citizens to vote has led to a more concerted focus on the forces and trends that may signal a shift from "Shaky/Managed Incremental Change" (Scenario II) to "It Gets Worse" (Scenario III) in the near-to-medium context of preparations for the planned elections in 2020. While the learning event was used to "Plan B's" through these activities and triggers identified, it will be

6

⁴ The CLA plan is part of the Activity MEL plan, titled "Learning" in the Activity Monitoring, Evaluation and Learning Plan (AMELP)

important to more formally flush out these plans, clearly specify these triggers, and ensure internal consensus around its approach.

Prepare for ongoing scenario surveillance: To operationalize a structured and periodic "where are we on the scenario trajectory" learning and adaptation process, it is recommended that BUILD develop a baseline for Scenario II / III matrix of common, contemporaneous, and revelatory trend indicators that would supplement quarterly reporting against the activity MEL plan. For example, monitoring the decision around national ID and voter registration, the development of a legal framework, the likelihood of one-person-one-vote elections taking place in 2020 and funding, taken together, may signal an emerging and demonstrative scenario shift for activity implementation. The intent of this surveillance tool is to bring 360 degree objectively curated trend information into timely deliberation on the status of scenarios and implication for programming adaptation. Integrating quarterly scenario 'pause and reflect' sessions into program reporting will help BUILD better understand how exogenous dynamics are influencing the attainment (or lack thereof) of 2020 elections. Moreover, seismic shifts in unique scenario trends may actuate follow-on analysis that leads to activity-specific adaptation based on information beyond the BUILD activity.

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

This Strategic Review and Learning Event afforded an opportunity for reflection by BUILD stakeholders and resulted in consensus around several important course corrections. More importantly, building on the CLA methodology, an approach was developed to facilitate ongoing learning and adaptation. This will help address the major challenge for BUILD: how to avoid program paralysis and ensure meaningful progress towards building trust and participation even when core assumptions do not hold. The key conclusions of the event were:

- Recognizing the limits of the original ToC, the BUILD team developed a new ToC, which will lay
 the foundation for an adaptive approach and enable them to specify new programming options in
 their newly revised workplan and Activity Monitoring, Evaluation, and Learning Plan (AMELP). This
 should be formalized to inform next year's planning.
- For Objective 2, focused on the NIEC, BUILD will flush out the details of a "Plan B" in case key assumptions, such as passage of an Electoral Framework and other supporting legislations (e.g., citizen law), does not materialize or if technical systems, such as effective voter registration, are not put in place. This should be done in the short-term, and BUILD should adopt quarterly scenario scanning as part of its CLA processes.
- Given that the poor relationship with the NIEC poses a key obstacle to the success of the intervention, efforts are required to engage and obtain the support of other key influencers in the Somali polity and higher-level US government diplomatic engagement with NIEC is needed to help rebuild and repair this relationship. These engagement efforts should be outlined as part of the upcoming year's implementation plan.
- Under Objective I, focus on civil society and the media, and Objective 3, focus on political parties, BUILD will develop alternative approaches to engagement with targeted groups that are not overly-dependent on unrealistic assumptions and tailored to the weaknesses of these three groups. By working to increase democratic culture, BUILD can still have a positive impact even if progress towards OVOP stalls. These alternatives should be identified for inclusion in the upcoming year's implementation plan.

- The event also laid the foundations for a more robust CLA approach that will allow for ongoing learning and adaptation. BUILD stakeholders identified learning questions and gaps in information, and BUILD's AMELP should be amended to address these gaps. In addition, BUILD stakeholders identified likely scenarios, Plan B's to address those scenarios, and triggers to initiate these Plans; however, these will require further refinement and incorporation of regular Pause and Reflect moments to consider potential scenarios and refine plans and triggers. This more robust CLA approach should be refined as part of next year's planning.
- In order to engender adaptive management practices, consider a more decentralized cooperative agreement management system, whereby the BUILD team in Kenya and Somalia has primary decision-making responsibility. Actions to mitigate the risks of such an approach should be further explored, including the development of alternative mechanisms for engaging CSOs outside of grant awards.

ANNEXES

ANNEX I: STATEMENT OF WORK

STATEMENT OF WORK MID-TERM STRATEGIC REVIEW BRINGING UNITY, INTEGRITY, AND LEGITIMACY TO DEMOCRACY (BUILD) IN SOMALIA

I. PURPOSE OF THE ACTIVITY

USAID Somalia seeks the services of a Contractor to conduct a mid-term Strategic Review to inform the next three years of the Bringing Unity, Integrity, and Legitimacy to Democracy (BUILD) activity, which supports elections and political processes in Somalia. The focus of the review will be on understanding how the activity can incorporate learning and respond to a highly fluid political and operational context. As such, the Strategic Review should incorporate the principles of USAID's Collaborating, Learning and Adapting (CLA) Framework.

BUILD's goal is to increase participation and trust in political processes among Somali citizens. The project works with a range of institutions and organizations in Somalia and Somaliland to incrementally increase awareness of civic rights and responsibilities while establishing and strengthening key political structures to facilitate and support citizen participation.

The Activity will reach its overall goal of increasing participation and trust in political processes among Somali citizens by:

- 1) Encouraging citizens' participation in political and electoral processes through building civil society organizations' capacity to inform citizens and monitor elections and political processes and improving media capacity to cover and disseminate information on these processes;
- 2) Developing the capacity of Election Management Bodies (EMBs) and other relevant government bodies to manage elections legitimately and effectively and design and administer credible political processes; and
- 3) Supporting Somali political parties to be more organized, inclusive and issue-based as they compete peacefully in the electoral and political process.

II. STRATEGIC REVIEW QUESTIONS

Questions focus on key Activity areas and are directly linked to the purpose of the review and its expected use. The contractor will refine the questions based on the desk review and KIIs and must review and finalize questions in collaboration with USAID prior to the Strategic Review

and Learning Event. USAID's suggested questions are as follows:

- 1. Have the activity's ToC and key assumptions held over the life of the activity so far?
- 2. To what extent has the activity adapted in response to learning and changes in context? What has enabled or hindered that?
- 3. How have the Activity's management and operational structures performed and adapted within Somalia's challenging programming environment?
- 4. Looking forward, how best can the Activity respond to changes in the context (for example, delays to the electoral framework or the lack of decision on key constitutional issues that will impact on elections) and to key assumptions to be more adaptive?
- 5. What kind of learning and analytical activities and/or capacities are most important for ensuring the activity can contribute to desired political and technical changes?
- 6. What managerial or organizational changes may be necessary to achieve this?

III. DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY

USAID/Somalia seeks the methodological approach that is appropriate to answer the strategic review questions. At a minimum, the following data collection methods must be used:

a. Desk Review

A desk review that allows the Contractor to understand the BUILD activity in the context of Somalia's changing political context and USG priorities in order to inform the Strategic Review process. The desk review included the following documents, among other articles and sources:

- USAID/Somalia Strategic Framework
- USAID/Somalia Inclusive Governance Project Appraisal Document
- USAID/Somalia BUILD Activity Program Description
- Other BUILD Activity Materials: Annual and Quarterly Reports; Annual Implementation Plans, including annual risk assessment and strategy for inclusion of marginalized populations; Activity Monitoring, Evaluation and Learning Plan (AMELP); political economy analysis documents; survey baseline report; other relevant SPSS reports related to BUILD
- USAID/Somalia Citizen Perception Survey reports
- Federal Government of Somalia National Development Plan
- A Macro-Level Analysis of Conflict Drivers and Dynamics in Somalia by the Somalia Stability Fund
- State-level political and conflict analyses conducted by Forcier

 Key research and analysis documents on the progress of constitutional review and elections planning in Somalia

b. Key Informant Interviews (KIIs)

Interviews must be held with a range of BUILD stakeholders in order to inform and refine the strategic review questions. The list of KIIs will be approved by USAID. Ten to twelve KIIs must be held with stakeholders including USAID technical staff, BUILD field and headquarters staff, the National Independent Electoral Commission, representatives of political parties and associations, civil society organizations, the UN Integrated Electoral Support Group, other donors, and potentially other observers.

c. Strategic Review and Learning Event

The Contractor will organize a three-day Strategic Review and Learning Event in Nairobi, to include participation from USAID Somalia, BUILD, and IP home office. The planned dates are July 16-18. Other stakeholders and experts may participate in some sections of the event as panelists or participants. The purpose of the event is to provide a space for USAID and BUILD staff to discuss the successes and challenges of the activity to this point, work together to address the review questions, and discuss how USAID and IP staff can work together to adaptively manage the activity for success. The event should incorporate the concepts of USAID's Collaborating, Learning and Adapting Framework; a module on CLA should be included in the event.

The first two days of the event should include the full team. The third day will bring together USAID and BUILD management to discuss the results of the first two days and discuss next steps.

The Contractor is expected to provide all the logistics including a note-taker for the event and to deliver a report that incorporates the key learnings and action points from the strategic review.

IV. DELIVERABLES AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

- 1. Strategic Review Schedule: Within 2 weeks of the award of the contract, the Contractor shall complete and present a draft schedule for the strategic review to the Contracting Officer's Representative (COR).
- **2. Strategic Review Design**: Within 1 week of approval of the schedule, the Strategic Review (SR) team must submit a SR design to the Contracting Officer's Representative (COR) (which will become an annex to the final report).

At a minimum, the design will include:

- 1. Data collection approach/ method
- 2. Draft questionnaires and other data collection instruments;
- 3. List of potential interviewees and sites to be visited; and

- 4. Draft Agenda for the Strategic Review and Learning Event.
- **3. In-briefing**: After submission of the SR design, the SR team will have an in-briefing with USAID Somalia for introductions and to discuss the team's understanding of the assignment, initial assumptions, strategic review questions, initial list of interviewees, draft questionnaires, and draft agenda for the Strategic Review and Learning Event.
- **4. Mid-term Briefing**: The SR team is expected to hold a briefing with USAID Somalia staff after the desk review and KIIs and before the Strategic Review and Learning Event. The purpose of this mid-term briefing will be to provide initial feedback from the desk review and KIIs, to discuss proposed changes to the SR questions, and to finalize the agenda of the Strategic Review and Learning Event. The team will also provide the COR with periodic briefings and feedback on the team's findings, as agreed upon during the in-briefing.
- 5. Final Report: The contractor will provide a draft final report that incorporates the key findings and recommendations of the Strategic Review and Learning Event within one week after the end of the event. The report will address each of the questions identified in the SOW and any other issues the team considers to have a bearing on the objectives of the review. Any such issues will be included in the report only after consultation with USAID Somalia. Once the initial draft report is submitted, the COR/AOR will have 10 business days in which to review and comment on the initial draft, after which point the COR/AOR will submit the consolidated comments to the SR team. The review team will then be asked to submit a revised final draft report within 7 business days hence, and again the COR/AOR will review and send comments on this final draft report within 7 business days of its submission. The final report will be no longer than 10 pages, exclusive of annexes.

For this Task Order, one payment will be made that will be tied to the satisfactory delivery of the final report.

V. STRATEGIC REVIEW TEAM COMPOSITION

The contractor must provide a strong team composition based on the proposed methodology. Key personnel must have demonstrated relevant prior experiences in Somalia, particularly in the area of democratization and political development, and prior assessment and facilitation experience.

The contractor must provide information about the SR team members, including their CVs, and explain how they meet the requirements in the strategic review SOW. Submissions of writing samples or links to past assessments or evaluation reports and related deliverables composed by proposed team members are highly desirable. All team members are required to provide to USAID a signed statement attesting to a lack of conflict of interest in relation to the activity being evaluated (a COI form).

Proposed personnel are expected to be the people who execute the work of this contract. Any substitutes to the proposed team must be vetted and approved by the Strategic Review COR before they begin work. The recruitment of local Somali speaking team members is highly encouraged.

The following key personnel positions are required:

1. Somalia Political Expert (Political Expert):

The Political Expert is ultimately responsible for the overall management of the Strategic Review and the final products. The Political Expert will serve as a co-facilitator of the Strategic Review and Learning Event that is the centerpiece of this activity. The Political Expert is expected to have deep knowledge of the political context and political development in Somalia, and to be able to bring that knowledge to bear at the event and in the final report. S/he will ensure high quality analysis and written reports. S/he is also responsible for quality assurance and timeliness of all deliverables.

Required Qualifications:

- Twelve to fifteen years' experience in working on research, development activities, or other relevant work in Somalia;
- Minimum of seven years working on issues related to political development, including elections, constitutional development, and civic engagement, preferably with a significant part of this experience in Somalia;
- Experience in assessment or evaluation design, management, and implementation;
- Understanding of USAID's cross-cutting program priorities, such as gender equality and women's empowerment.
- Appropriate and relevant educational degree.

2. Collaborating, Learning and Adapting Lead and Facilitator (CLA Lead)

The CLA Lead will take on the main responsibility for planning and facilitating the Strategic Review and Learning Event.

Required Qualifications:

- Significant experience in facilitation of learning events;
- Experience in assessment and evaluation design, methods, management, and implementation;
- Good understanding of USAID's Collaborating, Learning, and Adapting Framework;
- Appropriate and relevant educational degree.

VI. OTHER REQUIREMENTS

All modifications to the required elements of the SOW, whether in technical requirements, SR questions, team composition, methodology, or timeline, need to be agreed upon in writing by the COR. Any revisions should be updated in the SOW that is included as an annex to the strategic review Report.

VII. LIST OF ANNEXES

Herein attached is a list of the secondary data sources and other relevant materials that will help the strategic review team effectively respond to the RTOP proposal. This includes:

- USAID/Somalia Strategic Framework
- USAID/Somalia Inclusive Governance Project Appraisal Document
- USAID/Somalia BUILD Activity Program Description
- Other BUILD Activity Materials: Annual and Quarterly Reports; Annual Implementation Plans, including annual risk assessment and strategy for inclusion of marginalized populations; Activity Monitoring, Evaluation and Learning Plan (AMELP); political economy analysis documents; survey baseline report
- Fact Sheet: Collaborating, Learning and Adapting at USAID
- USAID/Somalia Citizen Perception Survey reports
- Federal Government of Somalia National Development Plan
- A Macro-Level Analysis of Conflict Drivers and Dynamics in Somalia by the Somalia Stability Fund
- State-level political and conflict analyses conducted by Forcier
- Key research and analysis documents on the progress of constitutional review and elections planning in Somalia

ANNEX II: STRATEGIC REVIEW AND LEARNING EVENT AGENDA

LEARNING EVENT DESIGN

This learning event will build on data collected from key informant interviews, consultations with USAID/Somalia leadership and guidance from Automated Directives System 201. The expected outcomes are an action plan with prioritized activities to adaptively manage BUILD, including its ToC.

During this learning event, participants will be engaged through participatory activities that build on adult learning principles and are grounded in the USAID Program Cycle guidance. Given expected outcomes by USAID/Somalia, participants will reflect on key events during the life of the activity and learn about how Adaptive Management is at the core of Collaborating, Learning and Adapting.

Tools that will facilitate learning and the generation of practical solutions to contextual challenges and current findings will be used throughout the engagement. USAID-endorsed learning tools include the development of learning questions and a learning plan, reviewing the activity ToC, and the identification of opportunities to track contextual changes through scenario surveillance.

The following is a roadmap of the learning event.

Figure 1: Roadmap of the Learning Event



- Introductions
- Changing Environment
- What are we learning?
- Obstacles, Opportunities & the Way forward
- Learning Activities
- Scenario Surveillance
- Operationalizing the Way Forward
- Trade off Analysis
- Action Plan

STRATEGIC REVIEW AND LEARNING EVENT AGENDA

Day I: INTRODUCTION

Focal Areas	Facilitator Notes	Product/Results
Introduction/opening	USAID/Somalia Leadership Introduction Articulation of what leadership envisions as final product. Recognition of activity as opportunity to pause and reflect to adapt as BUILD moves forward in its implementation	Expected outcomes
Objectives Ground Rules	Overview of objectives with group. Ask for participants to write on post its, their learning expectations. If they are outside of USAID/Somalia expectations for event, include in bike rack flip chart. (Bike rack is the same as parking lot in concept). Ground Rules regarding cooperation and safe space in addition to process for next few days	Group understanding of event process
Introduction to CLA as an approach	Walk through graphic to identify components of learning and continuous improvement and its connection with ToC. Explain: USAID's new development paradigm, as articulated in USAID Forward and the Automated Directives System (ADS) 201 promotes adaptive management as part of the new program cycle components of Collaborating, Learning and Adapting. Adaptive management increases efficiencies through the adoption of incremental changes during implementation based on data and its analysis. Rather than previous assumptions of activity implementation as a linear process, adaptive management promotes flexibility to respond to changes in results and context.	Plenary Presentation
Overview of BUILD	Overview of BUILD by Creative Associates to provide context and to assure that the audience is working with the same information.	Presentation by Creative Associates

Focal Areas	Facilitator Notes	Product/Results
Group Exercise: Wall of Wonder How has the Somali environment changed since activity design?	Explain Directions: The Wall of Wonder is an exercise in which the team identifies key events, both internal and external, during the past 2-3 years (or more) that may have had an impact on BUILD. Team members will place these events along a timeline. Group encouraged to reflect on events.	Timeline and events that may have had impact on implementation to refer to during the learning event
Unpacking Lessons Learned	Lessons Learned from Key Informant Interviews: Joakim Gundel Lessons Learned so far for BUILD: Creative Associates Note: Remind participants that the objective is to identify the lessons. Analysis of Lessons will take place during the 5 WHY's exercise in the afternoon	KII lessons Findings from BUILD's reflections on implementation to date
Observations on BUILD support of elections and constitutional review Tom Bridle	Observations on elections and constitutional review for pause and reflect	Plenary presentation
Unpacking Learning from Key Informant Interviews Continued	Unpack sessions:	Information from KIIs, other monitoring and secondary data
Wrap-up	Remind participants to use plus/delta to receive feedback	

Day 2: OBSTACLES, OPPORTUNTIES AND THE WAY FORWARD

Focal Areas	Facilitator Notes	Product/Results
Recap: What have we learned so far? Review of Agenda for Day 2 Theme	Review previous day's outcomes. Assign to a select or group of participants on day I	
Pause and Reflect Has the activity's ToC and key assumptions held over the life of the activity so far?	 Walk through ToC Slide Review ToC-what we're trying to achieve and how you think you will achieve it Use the ToC to identify existing knowledge, evidence, analysis as well as gaps and key assumptions embedded in our technical approach, as well as those that may come from the context in which the project we are designing will be implemented. Based on analysis of ToC, teams will generate learning questions, and suggested changes in the ToC based on data/information provided. Terminology clarification: Learning Questions and Learning Plan, Adaptive Management Learning questions, Suggested changes/adaptation to ToC 	ToC analysis for modification Learning questions
Wall of Wonder: Part 2	What are potential key events moving forward through the end of BUILD that may have an impact on implementation? Teams to create timeline and potential events/activities	Map of how BUILD will like to move forward through the rest of activity
Exercise: Map of Trends and Triggers What are obstacles to learning and adapting in environment?	Introduction of Trends and Triggers Table Teams to develop Maps/Outlines of Trends and Triggers	Trends/Triggers Map

Focal Areas	Facilitator Notes	Product/Results
Scenario Surveillance: What is the process and trend information needed to periodically pause and reflect, and consider scenario changes for adaptive management?	Walk through Scenario Surveillance Process with slide. Review the possible scenarios to track: I-Same, 2-Shaky, incremental changes, 3-worse, 4-worst ever Have table teams identify scenario indicators that qualify for each scenario using Field Trip around the Room technique. Teams move around the room every 10 minutes to discuss and add information/indicators for each scenario on the 4 flip charts. I. Identify scenario indicators to inform country surveillance (focus environmental scan on scenarios; observe trends; consider country context indicators) 2. Develop I-2-page indicator trend matrix (to be updated during P&R moments) 3. Recommend that team review and discuss as part of Data and Strategy Reviews (administrative / strategic) 4. What significant changes may warrant further P&R, and other analysis for adaptive management?	Scenario Surveillance Process including indicators
Brainstorm/discussion What opportunities exist during the program cycle for P&R? What other P&R opportunities should be built in for context monitoring and scenario surveillance?	Table team discussion followed by group discussion Provide slide with Program Cycle P&R opportunities. Ask teams to add additional opportunities based on USAID/Somalia operations and recommend other to incorporate these sessions into operations and for more frequent context monitoring	P&R schedule
Plenary and Group Activity What process can we use to communicate to adapt: RACI Matrix	RACI-Responsible, Accountable, Consulted, Informed. This matrix is a tool promoted by USAID to enhance role clarification and ownership of key business processes. To find opportunities for more efficient and effective collaboration, it's helpful to first differentiate who does what, when, and why	RACI Matrix

Focal Areas Facilitator Notes		Product/Results	
	This process will assist IP and USAID with clarifying roles around the adaptive management process in order to increase efficiencies in responding to context. Teams will address different decision-making processes based on scenario surveillance.		
Exercise:	Walk through slide of learning tools endorsed through the CLA framework in addition to tools	Learning Plan to add to AMELP	
Developing a Learning Plan	that may facilitate learning and CLA. Remind team on ADS requirements regarding learning from evaluations, learning plan and opportunities for		
What kind of learning and analytical	learning within the Program Cycle		
activities are needed to support learning, adaptation, and the desired political and technical changes?	Table teams to take learning questions, Activity Monitoring, Evaluation, and Learning (AMELP) and work by IRI to develop components of learning plan		
Wrap-up	Remind participants to provide feedback		

Day 3: OPERATIONALIZING THE WAY FORWARD

Focal Areas	Facilitator Notes	Product/Results
Recap: What have we learned so far? Review of Agenda for Day 3 Theme	Review previous day's outcomes. Assign to participants on Day I	
What adaptations can we make to our activities?	Using information from KIIs, Root Cause Analysis, ToC review, learning questions, scenario surveillance and Wall of Wonder exercises, teams will brainstorm on recommended changes. Criteria for changes to be established with USAID and team. Teams divided by Objective. Gallery Walk of ideas on flip charts followed by group voting	
Trade off Analysis	Trade off Analysis: This is a decision-making tool in which you define your own criteria to evaluate the options. This tool is useful when there are multiple options, multiple stakeholders and when there are factors beyond cost to consider. The group will use the Tradeoff Analysis criteria to review ideas and potential activities and identify those that best meet Trade off Analysis criteria.	Trade off Analysis
Finalize Action Plan	Based on Trade off Analysis, group will develop Action Plan with tangible steps/tasks, responsible parties identified and timeframe Action Plan Draft	
Next Steps	Based on action plan, BUILD and USAID will identify next steps for follow-up to the Learning Event	
Closing Remarks	USAID and BUILD provide closing remarks and reflection on activity	

ANNEX III: LIST OF KEY INFORMANT INTERVIEWS

If distributed more broadly than key BUILD stakeholders, this annex should be deleted.

Individual	Position/Organization	Location
Chedomir Flego	Chief of Party (COP) of BUILD	Mogadishu
Muhammad Al Musbeh	BUILD Deputy Chief of Party (DCOP)	Mogadishu
Ahmed Awil Mohamed,	Program Officer	Mogadishu
Tihana Bartulac Blanc and DC based Creative staff	Creative Associates	Washington, DC
Sa'eed Osman	NEC Head of Ops	Hargeisa
Dr. Nur Hersi	Chief Strategist, Office of the President, FGS	Mogadishu
Maria Gaheir	Centre for Policy Analysis (CPA)	Hargeysa
Habiba Jimale & Alloyce	Association of Somali Women Lawyers (ASWL)	Mogadishu
Hussein Sheikh Mohamud	Senator	Mogadishu
Naphtaly Saekamong	OI Lead (EISA sub)	Mogadishu
Johanna Wilkie, Victoria Ayer	USAID: AOR, A-AOR, Democracy, Rights, and Governance (DRG) Office Chief	Nairobi
Micol Martini	UK Department for International Development (DFID)	Nairobi
Hama Munyikwa	Former EISA lead for BUILD	Mogadishu
Mohamed A. Sh. Osman	Upper House	Nairobi
Marc Dickinson & Mary Cummins	United Nations Development Program (UNDP)/IESG	Nairobi
Halima Ismail Ibrahim, and Sayid Ali Sh. Mahamed	Chair and Deputy Chair, NIEC – Somalia	Nairobi

Ten interviews were carried out remotely using Skype of which eight were in Mogadishu and two in Hargeysa; this included eleven persons of which five were from the IP's and six were non-IPs. Face to face interviews were carried out with one respondent in Washington DC and eight individuals (in five interviews) in Nairobi, including two from USAID and six non-IPs. Seven requested KII's did not materialize, including one non-IP interview request that was rejected, one from a political party, one from a donor that was not available, and four non-responders (one from a political party and three other non-IPs). The interviews were carried out by the SI Somalia expert, except for the one in Washington that was carried out by the SI Team Leader, who also accompanied the interviews in Nairobi.

ANNEX IV: STRATEGIC REVIEW AND LEARNING EVENT SUMMARY NOTES

Insightful discussions among this group proved valuable to BUILD and USAID. The following is a process report with session information, outputs from the group and descriptions of tools employed throughout the 2.5-day event.

WHAT IS COLLABORATING, LEARNING AND ADAPTING?

USAID's new development paradigm, as articulated in USAID Forward and the Automated Directives System (ADS) 201 promotes adaptive management as part of the new program cycle components of Collaborating, Learning and Adapting. Adaptive management increases efficiencies through the adoption of incremental changes during implementation based on data and its analysis. Rather than previous assumptions of activity implementation as a linear process, adaptive management promotes flexibility to respond to changes in results and context.

Development rarely happens in a straight line, but we often plan and implement our activities as if we can draw a straight So, if the actual path of development is a lot less straightforward, how can we make sense of where to go?

Development is not a science. There is an assumption that activity implementation is linear, however, through the process of **Collaborating, Learning and Adapting**, those assumptions are checked, learning from what we see on the ground, from the monitoring results collected and adapting our actions to make for the most effective development. Collaborating, learning and adapting is **not an add-on**; it's an approach to carrying out our daily work and it can significantly increase the impact of what we do.

OVERVIEW: BRINGING UNITY, INTEGRITY AND LEGITIMACY TO DEMOCRACY (PRESENTATION BY BUILD)

Presentation Summary

- Introduction to BUILD project
- BUILD Progress vs Targets
- Challenges and Obstacles
- M&E Recommendations

Project Overview

- Build electoral systems, strengthen civil society and encourage civic participation in Somalia, with a particular focus on women, youth and other marginalized groups.
- Duration: March 31, 2016 March 30, 2021
- Implementer: Creative Associates
- Partners: IRI, EISA, Forcier Consulting
- Location: Somalia (Somaliland)

Immediate Challenges

- Political instability; insecure and corrupt environment
- Frequent timeframe changes by Federal Government of Somalia (FGS) on political decisions
- Delay of legal framework to endorse the 2020 election
- Limited FGS coordination with Federal Member States (FMS) & between participating stakeholders

- Lack of technical capacity in political processes
- Limited citizen knowledge & awareness of One-Person One-Vote election, as in traditional clan structures

Build Objectives

Objective 1: Enhance citizens' understanding of political and electoral processes

- **I.I** Build CSO capacity to inform citizens and monitor political processes
- **1.2** Build Media capacity to cover and disseminate information on electoral and political processes

Objective 2: Build the capacity of NIEC and other relevant government bodies to design, administer and manage transparent, credible and accepted elections and political processes, with effective public outreach

Objective 3: Develop political parties; competitive, inclusive and representative of citizens' interests, and support enabling legal/regulatory framework for participation in elections

Key Components of Program

- Conduct public outreach, voter registration, and civic education and inform citizens to freely influence public policies and **participate** in the One -Person-One Vote election
- Build and enhance capacity of **political parties**, registration with the authorities
- Develop processes to **empower** minority groups, women, and youth to participate in the electoral process
- Build capacity of **civil society** and an **independent media** to ensure citizens are well informed about the electoral process and encourage participation
- BUILD completed program supporting Somaliland election.

Strategic Recommendations

- Facilitate legislative legal framework as a higher priority
- Strengthen operational capacity of Somalia National Independent Electoral Commission
- Conduct sustainable civic/voter registration, and/or districting and census
- Continue development & building of political parties
- Conduct extensive civic awareness and activism amongst women, youth, and minority groups
- The date of the election was postponed from March to November 2017. Funding increased in response to this delay and the closure of BUILD's Somaliland office delayed.
- NIEC changed its primary engagement from BUILD to IESG. The voter registration process is still undecided.

Future key events projected for 2018, 2019 and 2020 include the following:

- The passing of a citizenship law, parliament leaders join political parties,
- Civic and voter education activities will take place through grants to media and civil society groups
- While the team projected OPOV in 2020, others projected a delay in elections and a revision of the OPOV process.
- Female participation is anticipated to increase from 25% in 2016 to 50% in 2020

SHIFTING AND COMPLEX CONTEXT

Unpacking Themes from KIIs and Desk Review

- Society in Somalia is more complex than in Somaliland
- Political dynamics are also more complex and more difficult to predict
- Challenge for BUILD is determining how to deal with:
 - O Legal and electoral framework that is not in place
 - Authorities that are not institutionalized
 - Partners (i.e., NIEC) that are blocking agreement
 - Political parties that are not consolidated
 - Lack of civil society

Political Situation & Dynamics

- Political Dynamics complicated and unpredictable: main guiding principle has been the 4.5
- Strained relations within Parliament, between Parliament and Executive, within Executive
- between competing Ministries, and between Members of Parliament (MPs) and President
- Not just clan-politics, but also political/business networks related to various Islamic groups and external interests
- Strained federal-regional dynamics and strained internal-regional dynamics
- Rent-seeking and corruption undermine projects
- Most agree an end to 4.5 is necessary, but road to universal suffrage may take longer as foundations such as civil society, political party, understanding, and reconciliation still are missing
- Some progress on Road Map, but Parliament is still waiting for the basic electoral laws from the MoIFAR and NIEC
- Constitutional Review set to be finalized by end of this year (!?)

Working with NIEC and EMB Support

- NIEC Chairman appears to block progress
 - NIEC is mostly a one person show with no experience or capacity
 - Hard build a program when dependent on a one-person entity
- Issue of contention is the choice of voter registration system.
 - NIEC wants expensive full bio-metric system and is unhappy with BUILD's suggestions to select a more practical system that is more appropriate to the voting population profile, such as a conducting voter registration manually
 - o Competition with National ID project, which could be used for voter registration
- NIEC has no experience, and no learning curve so far.
- NIEC is hiring staff but appears to be along clan/family/interest lines rather than qualifications.
- NIEC appears unrealistic about what it takes to prepare elections
- NIEC independence may be jeopardized due to its composition and rent-seeking behavior
- Coordination and collaboration with IESG in regard to NIEC need to be improved
- Government funding of NIEC is important to show that there is political will, and it is not just a rent-seeking project.
- Can the NIEC contribute to the legal framework for elections?
 - Need to work with the National Federal Technical Committee etc., to move the legal electoral frameworks forward.

Perspectives on BUILDs working relationship with NIEC:

"They had someone that NIEC liked, who really sat down with them. They don't feel like that they have it anymore. Needs to have a conversation on what you need to help bolster technical capacity to broker that space and have that conversation."

"BUILD is in a tricky position. BUILD needs to create further client relationships with NIEC. UN can't create the critical friend role with NIEC. Not sure that they are transparent about their choices

I.LEGAL PROCESSES

OPOV

Trends	Tr	iggers
Lack of of rolesSlowne		Problematic laws are passed. No electoral law passed by end 2018

2. MEDIA

Trends	Triggers
 Security Low capacity Inaccuracy Norms Little pay 	 Security threats against the media Repressive government action against media Fake news/intentional misinterpretation of BUILD work

3.STATE-FEDERAL RELATIONSHIP

Trends	Triggers
Disagreement on FGS proposal on elections (e.g., one state refuses to adopt Dec. 2020) Tense /dialogue process	A threat to pull out of the engagement.

4. NIEC-STATE RELATIONSHIP

Trends	Triggers
Delay in clarifying processes & responsibilities	Unsure

5. VOTER REGISTRATION

Trends	Triggers
Inability to function	 Elections postponed Systems failure